RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Dec 16, 2016 3:26 PM CLERK'S OFFICE

RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

Supreme Court No.

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 74018-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION ONE

In re the Parenting and Support of:

DANIEL RAINBOW;

NATHAN BRASFIELD,

Appellant,

and

LAUREN RAINBOW,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Suzanne R. Parisien

PETITION FOR REVIEW

III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW				
	A.	Primary Issues2			
		1.	Can "a history of acts of domestic violence" consist of acts, incidents, and traits not individually "domestic violence" as defined by statute?		
		2.	May a trial court determine a parenting plan based on hearsay in a consolidated parenting-plan modification and DVPO- renewal trial?		
		3.	For how long, if at all, may a DVPO restrain contact with one's minor child unaffected by any domestic violence?		
	В.	Ancillary Issues4			
		1.	Can non-threatening speech to which a putative victim is not privy constitute domestic violence?		
		2.	Can a finding of "abusive use of conflict" stand absent any evidence of actual or potential harm to the child?		
		3.	Can invocation of the RCW 26.09.191(3)(f) "catchall" clause stand absent any explicit basis or justification?		
IV.	STAT	EMENT	Γ OF THE CASE5		

TABLE OF CONTENTS - \ensuremath{i}

Page 1

V.	ARGU	JMENT	WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 11
	A.	Prima	ry Issues11
		1.	Whether "a history of acts of domestic violence" may consist of acts, incidents, and traits not individually "domestic violence" as defined by statute
		2.	Whether a trial court may determine a parenting plan based on hearsay in a consolidated parenting-plan modification and DVPO-renewal trial
		3.	Whether or for how long a DVPO may restrain contact with one's minor child unaffected by any DV17
	B.	Ancill	ary Issues 19
		1.	Whether non-threatening speech to which a putative victim is not privy may constitute "domestic violence."
		2.	Whether baseless finding of "abusive use of conflict" and invocation of the RCW 26.09.191(3)(g) "catchall" clause may stand 20
VI.	CONC	CLUSIC	DN

TABLE OF CONTENTS - ii

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)

Washington Cases

Other State Cases
State v. Ancira, 107 Wn. App. 650, 27 P.3d 1246 (2001)
Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 92 S. Ct. 1208, 31 L. Ed. 2d 551 (1972) 19
Smith v. King, 106 Wn.2d 443, 451, 722 P.2d 796 (1986),5
Marriage of CMC, 87 Wn. App. 84, 88, 940 P.2d 669 (1997)15
Marriage of Chandola, 180 Wn.2d 632, 327 P.3d 644 (2014) 5, 20
King County v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 142 Wn.2d 543, 14 P.3d 133 (2000)17
Freeman v. Freeman, 169 Wn.2d 664, 239 P.3d 557 (2010),14
Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC, 146 Wn.2d 1, 43 P.3d 4 (2002)17
CJC v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima, 138 Wn.2d 699, 985 P.2d 262 (1999)18
Caven v. Caven, 136 Wn.2d 800, 966 P.2d 1247 (1998)15
Ballard Square Condo. v. Dynasty Constr. Co., 158 Wn.2d 603, 146 P.3d 914 (2006)14

<i>Bjergum v. Bjergum</i> , 392 N.W.2d 604 (Minn. Ct. App. 1986)						
Kass v. Kass, 355 N.W.2d 335 (Minn. Ct. App. 1984)						

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES - iii

Page(s)

Lawrence v. Delkamp, 620 N.W.2d 151 (N.D. 2000)
Newhouse v. Williams, 167 Ohio App. 3d 215, 854 N.E.2d 565 (2006)
Constitutional Provisions, Statutes and Court Rules
ER 1101(c)(4) 16
RAP 13.4(b)(4) 1, 12, 17, 18, 19
RCW 26.09.010(1)
RCW 26.09.191
RCW 26.09.191(1)
RCW 26.09.191(2)
RCW 26.09.191(2)(a) 11, 14
RCW 26.09.191(3)
RCW 26.09.191(3)(e)
RCW 26.09.191(3)(f)
RCW 26.09.191(3)(g) 5, 20
RCW 26.09.191(6)
RCW 26.50
RCW 26.50.025(2)
RCW 26.50.060(2)
RCW 26.50.060(3)
U.S. Const. amend. I
U.S. Const. amend. XIV

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES - iv

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Nathan Brasfield asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review identified in Part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division One, on October 17, 2016, issued its decision terminating review, a copy of which is attached as Appendix 1 ("Slip op."). Motions for reconsideration and publication were timely filed, then denied by orders entered on November 16, 2016. A copy of the order denying reconsideration is attached as Appendix 2. Mr. Brasfield seeks review of those portions of the decision which affirmed the trial court's orders in all respects and affirmed findings to which he assigned error but were not founded upon substantial admissible evidence.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case concerns the outer bounds of "a history of acts of domestic violence," a criterion for imposition of restrictions in parenting plans. The overarching issue is whether incidents and traits having no relation to the societal problem addressed by domestic-violence law can become a basis for depriving parents of a meaningful role in raising their own children. This issue and its inherent sub-issues are of substantial public importance because their resolution requires balancing important public interests in the protection of children and adults from actual acts of domestic violence against parents' fundamental liberty interest in the care, custody, and control of their children. Review by this Court is thus warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 1

A. Primary Issues.

1. Can "a history of acts of domestic violence" consist of acts, incidents, and traits not individually "domestic violence" as defined by statute?

Where there has been no physical violence or assault and no physical harm ever threatened, can a combination of acts and traits of the alleged aggressor, attested to have caused "continuing fears"¹ of physical harm but none of which fit the statutory definition of domestic violence, constitute the multiple inflictions of fear of imminent physical harm required to establish "a history of acts of domestic violence as defined by RCW 26.50.010[3]" for purposes of imposing parenting restrictions under RCW 26.09.191(1) and (2)?

Inherent in this issue are two questions of law: (1) May the phrase "infliction of fear of imminent physical harm" in RCW 26.50.010(3) be interpreted such that "infliction of" means merely "causal contribution to" and "imminent" means only "future," thus bringing inadvertent, unintended, and indirect causation of a general and ongoing fear within the definition? And (2) Where there is no past interpersonal violence, and no evidence showing any intention or threat to commit such violence, can an attested fear of physical harm be reasonably founded upon behaviors and traits not logically implying impending interpersonal violence?

¹ This quotation is from the trial court's findings. CP 1034 (FOF 22). The Court of Appeals inferred "a growing and continuing fear" (*Slip op.* 13), but "growing" is not supported by the findings or the record. This is detailed in section IV, below.

2. May a trial court determine a parenting plan based on hearsay in a consolidated parenting-plan modification and DVPO-renewal trial?

Where the trial to determine how a parenting plan will be modified has been consolidated² with a hearing to decide whether a protection order will be renewed, can determinative findings of fact relating to parental conduct and fitness be based solely upon hearsay, in contravention of the requirements set by RCW 26.09.010(1) and RCW 26.09.191(6), and does so making such findings violate the constitutional due process rights of the parent against whom they are made where the resultant parenting plan effects a severe, nearly total curtailment of that parent's role as a parent, thereby infringing upon one of his fundamental liberty interests?

3. For how long, if at all, may a DVPO restrain contact with one's minor child unaffected by any domestic violence?

Can a domestic violence protection order, consistent with a parent's fundamental liberty interests, restrain a parent's contact with his minor child who was neither exposed to domestic violence nor subjected to it, where no evidence portends such harm and the order is founded on the other parent's fear rather than any violent tendency? If permissible, can such an order, issued under RCW 26.50, have a five-year duration in direct contravention of the requirement, set by RCW 26.50.060(2), that any such order "shall be for a fixed period not to exceed one year"?

² Such consolidation is implicitly authorized by RCW 26.50.025(2).

B. Ancillary Issues

If this Court accepts review, Mr. Brasfield asks that the following issues also be decided to facilitate expeditious resolution of this case:

1. Can non-threatening speech to which a putative victim is not privy constitute domestic violence?

Can private speech³ to third parties, where no threat of harm is stated, and where no evidence indicates that such speech was intended to reach the putative victim, be held⁴ to constitute an act of domestic violence without impermissibly infringing the speaker's constitutional right to speech free of governmental regulation?

2. Can a finding of "abusive use of conflict" stand absent any evidence of actual or potential harm to the child?

Where no substantial or admissible evidence supports a finding of abusive use of conflict, no evidence of actual or potential harm to a child due to alleged such abuse has been entered, no such harm or risk has been argued,⁵ and no such harm or risk has been explicitly found, must the imposition of restrictions authorized by RCW 26.09.191(3)(e) be vacated?

3. Can invocation of the RCW 26.09.191(3)(f) "catchall" clause stand absent any explicit basis or justification?

Where no explicit finding states any specific risk of harm which is comparable to what is required to invoke any of subsections (a)-(f) of

³ Such speech was posted in a social media sub-forum to which Mr. Brasfield blocked access by Ms. Rainbow, which restriction was evidenced and undisputed at trial. RP 498, 144-45; *see also* Appellant's Reply Brief, Appx. C, CP 859.

⁴ Oddly, it is unclear whether the Court of Appeals so held or the trial court so found.

⁵ No resulting or prospective harm to D.R. was argued to the trial court. This issue, undecided by the Court of Appeals, was argued to be error at OB 30-31.

RCW 26.09.191(3),⁶ must the imposition of restrictions authorized under RCW 26.09.191(3)(g) (the "catchall" clause) be vacated?⁷

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Rainbow and Mr. Brasfield began their intimate relationship⁸ in 2008, leading to the birth of their son, D.R., in September 2009. RP 440, CP 1139. Around that time, allegedly,⁹ there were a few scary driving and property destruction incidents. The parties split in June 2011¹⁰ and soon reached an oral separation agreement regarding parenting, child support, and property distribution. CP 1033 (finding of fact (FOF) 20); RP 446, 448, 543-45. Per their agreement, D.R. spent about half the time with each parent, child support costs were equally borne, and Ms. Rainbow was given exclusive use of a car they jointly owned.¹¹ RP 544-45; CP 275-76; CP 867, 1033 (FOF 20); RP 402-03, 544-45; RP 39, 449; CP 863-867.

In September 2011, Ms. Rainbow alleged to Child Protective Services (CPS) that Mr. Brasfield took D.R. to a work site, locked him in a

⁶ The trial court cited only "the totality of circumstances in this case" as the basis. CP 1040. The findings of fact which could reasonably be conjectured to be the basis were mostly not founded on admissible evidence, as argued at OB 37-39.

⁷ Yes, per Marriage of Chandola, 180 Wn.2d 632, 643, 648 327 P.3d 644 (2014).

⁸ It was a long-distance relationship, at first, RP 440, and became closer later.

⁹ These much later raised allegations, detailed below, were disputed and unproven at trial. They are relevant here only because the Court of Appeals relied upon them, (at *Slip op.* 13), effectively becoming a fact-finder while overlooking precedent cited at OB 17, "In the absence of a finding on a material fact issue, the appellate court presumes that the party with the burden of proof failed to sustain its burden on that issue. *Smith v. King*, 106 Wn.2d 443, 451, 722 P.2d 796 (1986)."

¹⁰ This date has been subject to continuing confusion, but there is no genuine dispute over it; the record resolves it with logic applied. *See* CP 822, 829, 844; RP 441, 447, 496.

¹¹ Mr. Brasfield has always maintained that the car belonged to him with Ms. Rainbow having only a nominal, legally insurable interest. CP 867 (and CP 278).

room for half a day, and sporadically attended him¹²; Ms. Rainbow then refused to return D.R. to Mr. Brasfield's care per their prior agreement, leading him to commence this parenting action in late September 2011. RP 446-448; CP 276, 1139, 1213-19. The CPS investigation determined these allegations of abuse and neglect to be unfounded. Exh. 41 3, RP 228, 480.

In May 2012, Ms. Rainbow obtained temporary orders with terms including child support to be paid to her. CP 1222-45. In June 2012, an agreed, final parenting plan was entered which essentially reflected the division of parenting in the parties' mid-2011 agreement. CP 2. Except for the above-stated, unfounded abuse allegation, there were no allegations of neglect, abuse, or domestic violence in this initial litigation (or elsewhere, *see* CP 1220-21) and no interim or final parenting plan included any restrictions as authorized under RCW 26.09.191. CP 2; CP 1262-74.

In August 2012, with the child support issue yet to be resolved in their litigation, Mr. Brasfield informed Ms. Rainbow that if she did not drop her child support demand, she would have to return the car. RP 449, CP 877. On August 14, he sent an acquaintance to repossess it, without informing Ms. Rainbow before or afterward; she discovered it missing on August 15 and reported it stolen to Seattle police. RP 45, 452, 588, CP 873. Six weeks later, the parties exchanged words via telephone which are

¹² Mr. Brasfield has long denied these allegations and testified as to the benign care D.R. received at the work site and circumstances there. RP 480-482. No other competent evidence exists in the entire record to support the allegations. This remains an issue on appeal because the trial court, relying on hearsay alone (or "no evidence" as was argued at OB 39), made finding 24.c (at CP 1036) and the Court of Appeals affirmed it.

poorly remembered and disputed,¹³ still unproven,¹⁴ and seemingly a threat of some vaguely bad future (as noted). Hours later, Ms. Rainbow telephoned a complaint about this call to Seattle police, leading to no further action beyond a warning to Mr. Brasfield. RP 45, Exh. 33 4, CP 280-81 ¶23. Consistent with the absence of any threat or then-induced fear of physical harm reported that year (or the next) associated with either incident (Exh. 33, RP 589-90), this dormancy lasted for nineteen months.

During this lull, Ms. Rainbow asked Mr. Brasfield to drive her to where the car was found; when he did, she released her interest in it in exchange for his payment of towing charges. Exh. 41 6 (3rd ¶), CP 281. Later in this lull, upon learning that he took their car some sixteen months earlier, she solicited and obtained, from a cooperative informant, a copy of a Facebook post evidencing the repossession, which also indicated Mr. Brasfield's resentment of her past action(s) and a sentiment, "she's lucky that's all I did." Exh. 22 4-5 (March 2), Exh. 3 7-8. This post, inaccessible to her except with the assistance of her informer, whose access to the subforum was not blocked, became a "threat" in her testimony. RP 498, 144-145, RP 75-76. It perhaps underlays the trial court's finding of "direct and

¹³ Ms. Rainbow has reported drifting brief "quotes" or summaries of what was threatened. Exh. 33, CP 1116 ("see if you come out of this unharmed"); RP 44, 136 ("see what's coming to you"). Later, she seems to agree with Mr. Brasfield about the "threat." RP 137, 586 (prepare to return the car). Mr. Brasfield remembers it being about the car and denies making such a vague threat. RP 449. His version of the "harm" threat could not induce reasonable fear. CP 636 ¶25 (specific undesirable consequences likely).

¹⁴ The trial court did not resolve this factual dispute except implicitly and vaguely, finding that there had been "direct and indirect threats" CP 1027 (FOF 6). This judge saw "coercion and control," in the repossession, as domestic violence, RP (4/24/15) 9, so there is no reason to presume that the trial court decided there was any threat of violence.

indirect threats" (CP 1027 (FOF 6) emphasis added), and was cited in the decision below as a valid basis for Ms. Rainbow's fear, but was not there deemed or held to be a threat or an act of domestic violence. *Slip op.* 12.

While with Mr. Brasfield in February 2014, D.R. swallowed some isopropyl alcohol by accident, harmlessly, yielding another CPS report by Ms. Rainbow, also resolved as unfounded. RP 569-73, 228; Exh. 41 at 3.

In late March 2014, Ms. Rainbow told police for Mr. Brasfield's municipality that he had an illegal marijuana grow¹⁵ in his house and that their son said he saw "guns" there months earlier.¹⁶ This led to an inquiry of Ms. Rainbow by an FBI agent followed by a raid of Mr. Brasfield's home on April 22, 2014, where FBI agents found three firearms on an upper closet shelf. Due to past conviction of non-violent property crimes, he was taken into custody and charged with a firearm possession crime.¹⁷

Ms. Rainbow ended the lull on April 29, 2014,¹⁸ with her ex-parte petition for a domestic violence protection order in which she listed numerous reasons to consider Mr. Brasfield "dangerous" but little or nothing amounting to domestic violence. CP 1108-37. This petition, the earliest assertion of domestic violence by Ms. Rainbow, attested that Mr.

¹⁵ RP 157; Exh. 11 ¶19. The competent evidence establishes a legal grow, as shown by a report Ms. Rainbow already had from her informant. RP 493-494, 564; CP 1126.

¹⁶ There has been much conflation of toy guns with real firearms in this case, this hearsay being one early instance. RP 74, 78-79, 114, 461-62, 475-77, 548; Exh. 14, 22.

¹⁷ See Exh. 11, admitted to establish Mr. Brasfield's awareness of Ms. Rainbow's role in instigating the raid, as "motive...for his animosity" contributing to "her fears"; RP 54.

¹⁸ Ms. Rainbow's DVPO petition was made and granted the same day that Mr. Brasfield was denied bail, ostensibly because of certain suspicions. CP 1092, 1094-96.

Brasfield had been "aggressive toward" her and "threatened [her] on multiple occasions." CP 1116. Her petition attested "uncountable … road rage acts," a witnessed TV toss which "scared [her]," "punched holes in walls," scary posture, the incidents as reported to CPS, and fear of lethal retaliation for her role as an informant, all in support of her "need" for a protection order. *Id.* It mentioned fear of physical harm only connected to her role in Mr. Brasfield's arrest. *Id.* She was granted a temporary domestic violence protection order (DVPO) which, in June 2014, by agreement, was extended to one year, modified to allow limited remote contact between D.R. and his father.¹⁹ CP 1208-12.

On the day after Ms. Rainbow's petition, Mr. Brasfield wrote to his mother, asking her, if she talked to Ms. Rainbow, to tell her "[he] will not harm her" and "[he had] thought about it," followed by his considerations; soon afterward, he aborted any such communication.²⁰ Exh. 12; RP 492.

The vague and summary nature of Ms. Rainbow's assertions of domestic violence necessitated deposition, revealing them to be much less dramatic than her petition suggested. In particular: The acts of "road rage" were (1) an incident of never known or forgotten evolution with associated cursing, (2) a passing maneuver without overt anger, and (3) a driveway

¹⁹ Mr. Brasfield, due to his detention and pending criminal matter, considered this modified DVPO to be an acceptable quid pro quo since he saw little chance of successfully opposing it when he could not testify on his own behalf. He has always disputed committing any domestic violence. RP 560; CP 426, 631-32.

²⁰ The provenance and purpose of this email and the abort was attested at RP 458-459, 490-492 and CP 932. Ms. Rainbow construed it at trial as thoughts of murder. RP 57.

exit she deemed too close to a neighbor.²¹ She conceded they did not result from anger at her.²² The "multiple" threats by Mr. Brasfield were (1) "See what's coming to you."²³ from the disputed telephone call, (2) telling his sister that he hopes Ms. Rainbow dies,²⁴ and (3) posting in a forum (to which she had no access), "Lauren is lucky that's all she got" when he took the car. CP 665. The attested property destruction was, at first, all witnessed by Ms. Rainbow (with the wall "holes" ebbing to one), but significant inconsistencies in her stories led to her evolved testimony that Mr. Brasfield had merely told her of said destruction, not witnessed by her, along with admitted ignorance of why he was angry or with whom.²⁵

Upon Mr. Brasfield's initiative, a guardian ad litem (GAL) was appointed to investigate and make recommendations. CP 172-77; RP 184.

With Ms. Rainbow's domestic violence claims shown to be illusory or involving no threat of physical harm, Mr. Brasfield moved for summary judgment in March 2015 on the issue of whether there was "a history of acts of domestic violence." CP 183-291. No evidence of

 $^{^{21}}$ These driving incidents, recounted at CP 659-661, were shown the same day to likely be among the domestic violence claims. CP 781. Mr. Brasfield denied that they happened as Ms. Rainbow attested. RP 444; CP 633 (¶16), CP 281-284 (¶28-38). All of this was before the trial court, in April and July of 2015. They remain unproven.

²² This admission, at CP 970, was reiterated at trial. RP 144.

 $^{^{23}}$ Mr. Brasfield denied uttering this vague threat. CP 907; RP 449. When moving for summary judgment, and later, he attested the substance of the conversation which he thought those words misleadingly characterized. CP 280 (¶21), 907.

²⁴ There was no competent evidence of this.

 $^{^{25}}$ The shifting nature of Ms. Rainbow's property abuse story was documented to the trial court in Mr. Brasfield's opposition to the DVPO renewal. CP 633-634 (¶18, 20). The seen-to-unseen vacillation occurred at trial also (RP 47, 139-42), so the absence of any findings on those allegations aligns well with the fact-finder's view of the evidence.

domestic violence meeting criteria set by CR 56(e) was submitted in response. Instead, Ms. Rainbow argued that Mr. Brasfield had effectively admitted there was a material factual issue by seeking to have the GAL investigate domestic violence²⁶ and that the agreed DVPO²⁷ was conclusive. CP 292-418. Reply to this (CP 419-530) was futile; the motion was denied on the (ultimately revealed) basis that the agreed DVPO rendered it "inappropriate."²⁸ CP 546-47; RP 559.

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