RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jan 17, 2017, 4:07 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 93952-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 74018-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

In re the Parenting and Support of: DR;

NATHAN BRASFIELD, Appellant,

and

LAUREN RAINBOW, Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Suzanne R. Parisien, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Laura A. Carlsen, WSBA No. 41000 Attorney for Respondent MCKINLEY IRVIN, PLLC 1200 Pacific Ave., Suite 2000 Phone: 253.952.4290

Fax: 206.223.1999

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

II. ARGUMENT

This case is about the best interests of a child, DR, the primary focus of any child custody case, and interestingly enough, Mr. Brasfield's Petition for Review focuses on what he wants, what he believes are his rights, or what he feels entitled to, but does not discuss DR's best interests. In fact, his briefing resembles his own comments about his rights to possess a firearm (despite the laws saying he cannot due to being a felon): "Okay the right of the people to keep and bear arms shall not be infringed, shall not. It means, it can't be done I still have the legal right to possess and bear firearms, guaranteed to me by the Constitution no matter what the fucking government says about it" TRIAL EXHIBIT 11.

The facts as deemed credible by the trial court as well as Mr. Brasfield's arguments make it clear that his focus is on what is best for him – not what is best for DR, and the failure to recognize this is exactly why the Parenting Plan and DVPO should be affirmed.

A. REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED AS THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISIONS ARE IN LINE WITH THE PUBLIC INTERESTS; MR. BRASFIELD'S INTERPRETATION OF STATUTES IS CONTRARY TO PUBLIC INTEREST

Taken as a whole, Mr. Brasfield's argument to this Court is that the basis for Domestic Violence Protection Orders should be drastically curtailed. However, these limits for which Mr. Brasfield advocates directly contradict the express purpose of the Domestic Violence Prevent Act, which is to make it easier for victims to come forward and obtain protection. His interpretation also ignores the fact that Domestic Violence is not simply about direct physical harm, but the cycle of abuse that goes along with it, including the control, manipulation, and intimidation referenced in the statute. Domestic violence is defined by RCW 26.50.010(3) as:

(a) Physical harm, bodily injury, assault, or the infliction of fear of imminent physical harm, bodily injury or assault . . . (b) sexual assault . . . or (c) stalking as defined in RCW 9A.46.110.

Stalking is further defined by RCW 9A.46.110 as "intentionally and repeatedly harasses . . . [and] the person being harassed . . . is placed in fear that the stalker intends to injure the person, another person, or property of the person The feeling of fear must be one that a

reasonable person in the same situation would experience under all the circumstances; and . . . the stalker either . . . intends to frighten, intimidate, or harass the person; or . . . knows or reasonably should know that the person is afraid, intimidated, or harassed even if the stalker did not intend to place the person in fear or intimidate or harass the person." These actual statutory definitions do not support Mr. Brasfield's requested curtailment of the law.

Mr. Brasfield states that the threat of harm must be "imminent" but that the Court of Appeals' interpretation nullified this word. His point seems to be that even though he threatened Ms. Rainbow's life, the fact that he has not actually taken her life should mean that his threat was not "imminent." When Mr. Brasfield threatened Ms. Rainbow to drop child support, he sent someone to her house that night to steal her car. It is reasonable then, that when she learns of a threat to her life even when Mr. Brasfield is incarcerated, she would have an imminent fear that he would send someone out to harm her again. That he did not include in his threat the exact time and date (which would be an unreasonable expectation) only makes the fear more real and persistent.

Mr. Brasfield also argues that the "threat" must be "specific" to the harm. The definition of domestic violence per RCW 26.50.010(3) does not include this limitation, however, and it is easy to imagine why. If an abuser threatens to punch the victim in the face but then actually kicks the victim in the back, it makes threats even more terrifying for the victim

who was not only threatened and kicked, but who now does not know what other surprises are coming. That the statute includes not only the actual physical harm, but the "fear" itself of physical harm means that the Legislature intended for fear alone to be a basis for the protection order. There is no requirement – or loophole, so to speak – that an abuser can inflict fear by threatening one type of harm but avoid a protection order by actually inflicting a different type of harm. In fact, there is no requirement in the statute that the means of inflicting fear ever be carried out. Mr. Brasfield threatened Ms. Rainbow's life; there is not and should not be a requirement that he actually carry through with that threat before she can receive protection (especially when he has carried out threats before).

Mr. Brasfield further states that there must be more than one act before a court can impose restrictions/issue an order. Regarding the issuance of the DVPO, no such limitation is included in the statute, as the words used are singular, not plural. Whether the abuser threatens the victim with assault daily for a month or only hits the victim one time, it is all part of domestic violence. Under Mr. Brasfield's interpretation, the victim would need to be hit more than once before a court would have power to issue an order. Mr. Brasfield points to the language used under RCW 26.09.191, conflating the issuance of a restriction in a parenting plan with the issuance of a protection order, to say that there must be multiple acts of domestic violence before an order or a restriction can be issued. No such language exists in RCW 26.50. Nevertheless, with respect to

RCW 26.09.191 and the word "acts," there are multiple acts as set forth above. Both orders were appropriate.

Ultimately, it appears Mr. Brasfield is trying to read ambiguity into the DVPO statutes as a way to undo the DVPO and Parenting Plan entered against him, but this ignores that there is an actual basis for both of these orders to be entered.

B. EVEN UNDER MR. BRASFIELD'S INTERPRETATION OF THE DOMESTIC VIOLENCE STATUTES, THE DVPO WAS APPROPRIATE

In the instant case, the protection order entered against Mr.

Brasfield is absolutely necessary and important for the safety of both Ms.

Rainbow and Danny. First, Mr. Brasfield has inflicted in Ms. Rainbow the fear of imminent physical harm, bodily injury, or assault. Her testimony as outlined above and in the record demonstrates how he threatened her, both directly over the telephone, and indirectly to the public. He followed through with that threat by having a stranger go to her home in the middle of the night to steal her car. Having someone take it in the middle of the night sends a different message, and is much more concerning than a simple property dispute. It is intimidating and terrifying to think that at any moment, he could send someone else to her property to carry out another threat.

Further, Mr. Brasfield admitted that he had considered physically harming Ms. Rainbow, and the fact that he made that consideration known to Ms. Rainbow is further intimidation. This is a critical distinction, as

Mr. Brasfield argues in his Petition that he simply made "non-threatening, private speech" that "cannot be domestic violence against a non-privy party" As noted above, the threat against Ms. Rainbow's life A) was directly threatening, as it forced him to consider whether or not to leave DR without a mother or a father; B) was made privy to Ms. Rainbow, as part of the email to his mother was a request that he pass that message along to Ms. Rainbow; and C) Ms. Rainbow did receive that message. Not only was this threatening, it was also a violation of the protection order in existence at the time.

Further, as Ms. Rainbow testified, Mr. Brasfield had carried out his threats before. She testified as to his violence, which was widespread and included road rage incidents toward other drivers, fights with friends, attempting to hit a neighbor with a car, and the destruction of property. The court also heard extensive information about Mr. Brasfield's long criminal record, which includes his current incarceration for violating a court order and the law against felons possessing weapons. In sum, he threatened her, demonstrated to her that he would carry through on his threats, made it clear that he contemplated harming her physically, and demonstrated to her that he has a lot of anger and problems managing that anger. On top of this is his propensity for associating with other felons, the fact that she assisted the FBI in his arrest which forms the basis of this action (and his current incarceration), and his admitted, unabashed anger and hatred toward Ms. Rainbow that, by his own words, will never

diminish. These form the basis for the finding that Mr. Brasfield committed domestic violence against Ms. Rainbow, and more importantly, that a domestic violence protection order is critical for Ms. Rainbow's safety.

Further, Mr. Brasfield ignores the fact that he signed an agreed Domestic Violence Restraining Order. While he claims it was because he was facing a criminal case, the order itself makes no such contingencies. Instead, the order contains an explicit finding – an admission by Mr. Brasfield – that domestic violence occurred and there is a basis for the order. His position is that he had no choice due to his criminal case, but that does not prevent him from either requesting a continuance of the DV hearing until his criminal case is resolved or otherwise arguing about other allegations in the petition. He did not exercise those options, and instead he reaped whatever benefit he saw from signing an agreed order. He should be judicially estopped from now saying that order has no meaning.

C. ENTRY OF THE FIVE-YEAR DVPO WAS APPROPRIATE AND DOES NOT RESTRAIN MR. BRASFIELD'S CONTACT WITH THE CHILD

Mr. Brasfield also argues that the five-year protection order violates RCW 26.50.060(2), which states that "[i]f a protection order restrains the respondent from contacting the respondent's minor children the restrain shall be for a fixed period not to exceed one year." This rule does not apply, however, since the protection order in effect does not prohibit Mr. Brasfield from contacting Danny. Further, the statute itself

exempts protection orders issued under RCW chapters 26.09, 26.10, or 26.26, which makes it inapplicable in this case. Lastly, the length of the order is important here, as Mr. Brasfield will be incarcerated for longer than a year, and it may indeed take quite some time before his anger with her for assisting the FBI might dwindle. While Mr. Brasfield's brief makes the point that protecting Ms. Rainbow has nothing to do with protecting Danny, Ms. Rainbow is Danny's primary parent and his main source of stability; protecting Ms. Rainbow from harm has very much to do with protecting Danny and serving his best interests. Mr. Brasfield acknowledged as much when he threatened Ms. Rainbow's life when he stated he had to consider whether it would be better for DR to live without a mother or a father.

D. MR. BRASFIELD'S CLAIM THAT ACTUAL DAMAGE MUST OCCUR BEFORE COURTS CAN ISSUE .191 RESTRICTIONS IS UNSUPPORTED BY APPLICABLE LAW

Mr. Brasfield makes many claims about what is required before a court can make a finding under RCW 26.09.191, but fails to acknowledge prevailing law that makes it clear the trial court is not required to wait for actual damage to occur before making a finding or imposing a restriction per RCW 26.09.191. "[T]he trial court need not wait for actual harm to accrue before imposing restrictions on visitation. *In re Marriage of Burrill*, 113 Wn. App. 863, 872, 56 P.3d 993 (2002) ("evidence of actual damage is not required"). Instead, it is sufficient just for the danger of damage to exist. *Id.* "[D]eciding whether to impose restrictions based on

a threat of future harm necessarily involves consideration of the parties' past actions." *In re Marriage of Katare*, 175 Wn.2d 23, 39-40, 283 P.3d 546 (2012). RCW 26.09.191 requires the court to consider whether a parent's involvement or conduct "may" have an adverse effect on the children's best interests. "To make this determination, the court must engage in a form of risk assessment." *Id.* The focus is not on "hardships which predictably result from a [separation of parents]," *id*, but rather on imposing restrictions that are similar in severity to the nature of the potential harm, *In re Marriage of Chandola*, 180 Wn.2d 632, 327 P.3d 644 (2014). "A trial court abuses its discretion if it imposes a restriction that is not reasonably calculated to prevent such a harm." *Id.* at 648.

In this case, as described above, there are serious concerns about Mr. Brasfield's parenting even regardless of his current incarceration. The home life he created for Danny was not in Danny's best interests and actually did cause Danny harm in many ways (from vomiting after drinking rubbing alcohol to living in a home with heroin users and a grow operation and guns to simply being so angry and violent that Danny acts out in school after being with his dad). The findings made by the court do reflect the evidence at hand as described above, and restricting/limiting Mr. Brasfield's time absolutely has a nexus to the concerns about Danny's welfare. Mr. Brasfield has demonstrated that he cannot make good parenting decisions about Danny and will be dishonest about Danny's care

with him. His visitation should be supervised and limited until he can demonstrate that he has turned his life around.

III. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Ms. Rainbow respectfully requests that this Court affirm the trial court's decision and award her attorney fees for the necessity of responding to these appeals. RAP 18.1 allows a party to recover attorney fees in responding to an appeal. RCW 26.09.140 and RCW 4.84.185 allow for recovery on a frivolous matter that is advanced without reasonable cause. In this case, Mr. Brasfield has persisted in driving forward litigation without evidence or legal arguments to support his claims and without facing any financial responsibility for the claims since others are paying his fees. To the extent that Ms. Rainbow's appeal has been handled *pro bono*, it is possible to request fees as a reimbursement of time nevertheless pursuant to prevailing case law that allows fees regardless of whether the representation is *pro bono* or not. See, e.g., Frank Collucio Const. Co. v. King County, 136 Wn. App. 751, 780, 150 P.3d 1147 (2007); Blair v. Wash. St. Univ., 108 Wn.2d 558, 570-71, 740 P.2d 1379 (1987); Council House v. Hawk, 136 Wn. App. 153, 160, 147 P.3d 1305 (2006) ("[U]nless a statute expressly prohibits fee awards to pro bono attorneys, the fact that representation is pro bono is never justification for denial of fees.") (citing Blair v. Wash. St. Univ., 108 Wn.2d at 571 ("trial court abused its discretion in even considering plaintiffs' public interest representation").

SIGNED AND DATED this 17th day of January, 2016.

McKINLEY IRVIN, PLLC